
Annual Report
2014–2015





annual report 2014–2015 1

	 Accountability Statement	 2

	 Management’s Responsibility for Reporting	 3

	 Message from the Board Chair and the President	 4
	 Board of Governors	5

	 Mandate	6

	 Vision, Mission, and Values	7

	 Brand Model	7

	 The NorQuest Learning Experience	8

	 Business Model Principles	9

	 Operational Overview: A Year in Review	 10
	 Public Interest Disclosure Act	15

	 NorQuest College Programs	16

	 Goals, Priority Initiatives,  
	 Expected Outcomes, and Performance Measures	 18
	 Six Areas of Focus	18

	 Access and Quality	24

	 Research, Applied Research, and Scholarly Activities	30

	 Community	31

	 Enrolment	32

	 Information Technology	33

 	 Internationalization	 34

	 Capital Plan 	35

	 Management Discussion and Analysis	 36

	 Consolidated Financial Statements	 38

Table of Contents



NORQUEST COLLEGE 2

Accountability Statement

The NorQuest College Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2015 was prepared 
under the Board’s direction in accordance with the Fiscal Management Act and ministerial 
guidelines established pursuant to the Post-secondary Learning Act. All material economic, 
environmental or fiscal implications of which we are aware have been considered in the 
preparation of this report.

	  
Alan Skoreyko,  
Chair, Board of Governors 
December 7, 2015

[Original signed by 
Alan Skoreyko]
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting

NorQuest College’s management is responsible for the preparation, accuracy, objectivity, and 
integrity of the information contained in the annual report including the financial statements, 
performance results, and supporting management information. Systems of internal control are 
designed and maintained by management to produce reliable information to meet reporting 
requirements. The system is designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that 
transactions are properly authorized, are executed in accordance with all relevant legislation, 
regulations and policies, reliable financial records are maintained, and assets are properly 
accounted for and safeguarded. 

The annual report has been developed under the oversight of the institution’s Finance and 
Audit Committee, as well as approved by the NorQuest College Board of Governors, and is 
prepared in accordance with the Fiscal Management Act and the Post-secondary Learning Act. 

The Auditor General of the Province of Alberta, the institution’s external auditor appointed 
under the Auditor General Act, performs an annual independent audit of the consolidated 
financial statements which are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards. 

	  
Dr. Jodi L. Abbott, icd.d 
President and CEO

[Original signed by  
Dr. Jodi L. Abbott, ICD.D]
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Message from the Board Chair  
and the President
For 50 years, NorQuest College has helped learners reach their educational goals. We offer 
learning that transforms lives and strengthens communities. Our growth over the last five 
decades has led us to our current position as the Edmonton region’s community college. 
Throughout 2015, NorQuest College celebrated 50 years of creating inclusive communities 
by engaging our students, faculty, staff, alumni, retirees, community, and friends in a range of 
activities.

The celebration began at home with our faculty and staff. Our annual College-Wide Learning 
Day in March took employees through our 50 years of existence, from our humble beginnings 
in 1965 through to the present day. For the community and our alumni, we highlighted our 
past and present achievements in our annual Community Report publication in the spring. We 
complemented this at our May convocation ceremony by awarding our first-ever President’s 
Medal, the college’s top academic honour. In fall 2015, we invited everyone in the communities 
we serve to celebrate with us in the heart of Edmonton at our 50th Anniversary Homecoming 
Celebration on the streets outside our downtown campus. 

There was, however, much more to celebrate over the past year. With students always as our 
focus, our development of new programs took on an increased yet sustainable pace with the 
launch of four new credit programs and the approval of two additional credit programs by the 
Government of Alberta. These new programs touched all faculties and opened opportunities 
for additional learners, while addressing the workforce-relevant needs of employers. 

Another new and exciting initiative was the launch of the Alberta Aboriginal Construction 
Career Centre (AACCC) in March. The aim of the centre is to raise the employment rates of 
Aboriginal Peoples and to help fill employment gaps identified by employers. The AACCC, 
which is open to everyone regardless of background, endeavours to foster empowerment by 
creating an inclusive learning atmosphere for Aboriginal Peoples and other learners.

Another highlight of 2014–2015 is our new Edmonton Oilers Community Foundation 
Hospitality Institute, launched earlier this year. The institute will benefit many but has a 
focus on creating skilled employees in the service industry, especially from the ranks of our 
sometimes marginalized downtown youth. 

In 2015, we also made great strides in the development and growth of needed capital 
infrastructure for NorQuest College. We broke ground on the Singhmar Centre for Learning. 
Our first capital project since 1971, the centre will be a great addition to our main campus 
and Edmonton’s downtown education district. The centre is scheduled to open in fall 2017, 
with renovations to the South Learning Centre to be completed in 2018. This will enable us to 
consolidate our Edmonton-area programming at the downtown campus.

We are proud to say that 50 years into the lifespan of NorQuest College our principles have 
not changed, but instead have been enhanced. At NorQuest, no matter where students are 
in their educational journey, we meet them where they are at and work with them to ensure 
they attain the skills they need to succeed.

	 	 	  
Alan Skoreyko,		  Dr. Jodi L. Abbott, icd.d 
Chair, Board of Governors		  President and CEO

[Original signed by 
Alan Skoreyko]

[Original signed by  
Dr. Jodi L. Abbott, ICD.D]
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Board of Governors 2014–2015

Alan Skoreyko 
	 Chair, Board of Governors 
	 Public Member

Dr. Jodi L. Abbott 
	 President and CEO

Melissa Bourgeois 
	 Public Member

David Dominy 
	 Public Member

Sherry Greenbank 
	 Academic Staff Member

Khalid Hashi 
	 Non-Academic Staff Member

Brian Hjlesvold 
	 Public Member

Carla Madra 
	 Public Member

Eduardo Rodriguez 
	 Public Member

Lillian Ruptash 
	 Public Member

Todd Walker 
	 Public Member

Megan Wenmann 
	 Student Member

Leslie Ahlstrom 
	 Public Member (until September 2014)

Eric Haynes 
	 Student Member (until September 2014)

Jacqueline Schaffter 
	 Public Member (until September 2014)

Brent Agerbak 
	 Public Member (until December 2014)

Lynn Faulder 
	 Public Member (until December 2014)

Krista Perreault 
	� Non-Academic Member (until February 2015)

David Hardy 
	 Public Member (extended to June 2015) 

Cameron John 
	 Public Member (extended to June 2015)

Christopher Burrows 
	 Public Member (until April 2015)

Patricia Howell 
	 Student Member (until May 2015)
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NorQuest College is a board-governed public college operating as a Comprehensive Community 
Institution under the authority of the Post-secondary Learning Act of Alberta. With campuses and 
learning sites across the Edmonton region, NorQuest enhances access to educational opportunities 
through its role as regional steward.

NorQuest provides high-quality learning opportunities that prepare graduates for careers and 
further studies in business, industry, health sciences, human services, early learning and education, 
and information, communication, and design technologies. A leader in enhancing access to post-
secondary education, the college is widely recognized for its foundational learning opportunities 
in academic upgrading, adult literacy, employment readiness, and English as a Second Language 
education. Credentials granted by the college include certificates, diplomas, and applied degrees.

NorQuest students experience unique educational opportunities in a vibrant and supportive 
environment that is responsive to changing learner needs and dedicated to learner access and 
success. Faculty and staff are committed to academic excellence and to enriching co-curricular 
student life opportunities. At NorQuest, learners from diverse educational, cultural, and social 
backgrounds can achieve their personal and career goals and enhance their lives. NorQuest 
programming is sensitive to the cultural experience of Aboriginal learners, and learners for 
whom English is a second language. The college is a leader in meeting the needs of learners with 
disabilities.

As a Comprehensive Community Institution with regional stewardship responsibilities, NorQuest 
engages community partners to meet literacy and foundational learning needs and ensures access 
to a full spectrum of post-secondary learning opportunities. In rural and urban communities 
throughout the region, the college opens pathways for lifelong learning.

NorQuest is an active partner in Campus Alberta, collaborating with other post-secondary 
institutions, governments, business, and community agencies to enhance educational 
opportunities, strengthen the Alberta knowledge economy, and address the economic, societal, 
and cultural needs for education regionally and provincially.

NorQuest delivers educational opportunities to people where they live and work. The college 
provides flexible alternatives in both credit and non-credit programming, including transfer credits, 
career laddering, recognition of prior learning, bridging, general studies, and part-time study. 
Workforce training is customized to meet specific needs in communities and workplaces. Through 
our partnership with eCampusAlberta and other innovative distributed learning alternatives, the 
college serves students across Alberta, throughout Canada, and around the world.

NorQuest is committed to enhancing teaching and learning through applied research that informs 
its academic programming and builds capacity in the communities it serves. The college’s Centres 
for Excellence are engaged nationally and locally with partners in business, industry, government, 
and communities to develop innovative solutions to social and technological challenges.

NorQuest College contributes to a strong Alberta economy by developing the skilled workforce 
that both public and private sector employers require. Educated in an environment that emphasizes 
critical thinking, experiential learning, technology integration, and intercultural competence, 
graduates of NorQuest College are global citizens and valued contributors in their communities. 

Mandate approved by the Minister of Innovation and Advanced Education, June 17, 2010.

Mandate
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Our Promise

	� Maximizing 
opportunities that 
others don’t see

Our Essence

	 Challenge Positive

Our Attributes

	 Inclusive 

	 Student-centred 

	� Relevant and  
Necessary 

	 Catalyzing

 	 Exciting

	 Confident 

	 Progressive 

	 Professional

Institutional Context

Vision
	� NorQuest College is a vibrant, 

inclusive, and diverse learning 
environment that transforms lives 
and strengthens communities.

Mission
	� NorQuest College inspires lifelong 

learning and the achievement of 
career goals by offering relevant 
and accessible education.

Values

We value people. We:
•	 treat people with integrity and respect

•	 �empower and encourage risk taking

•	 �celebrate commitment, contribution, and accomplishments

•	 promote health and wellness

We value learning. We:
•	 foster creativity, innovation, and critical thought

•	 �encourage growth, development, and lifelong learning

•	 �build on the diversity of our learners, employees, and partners

We value our role in the community. We:
•	 �display leadership and responsibility for our outcomes

•	 �partner to achieve community goals

We value the quality of the processes we use  
in reaching our goals. We:
•	 �demonstrate a learner-centred approach

•	 �set clear expectations, measure results, and demonstrate accountability

•	 �promote teamwork, cooperation, and sharing throughout the college

•	 follow fair process in accomplishing our objectives

Brand Model

Vision, Mission, and Values
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Our Commitment to Education 

Inclusive Culture 
•	 Our learning environment embodies diversity. 

•	 Our college is enriched by the unique qualities of our faculty, staff, and students. 

•	 We reflect and develop skills in cultural understanding. 

Exemplary Faculty 
•	 We bring together theory and practice in innovative and authentic ways. 

•	 We are current and engaged in our disciplines. 

•	 We use technologies to enhance learning. 

•	 We respect our students as partners in learning. 

Authentic Experience 
•	 We offer real-world experience. 

•	 We equip students with the right set of skills for career success or further education. 

•	 Our programs are endorsed by business and community leaders. 

•	 NorQuest credentials are recognized and valued. 

Accessible Learning 
•	 We welcome students at any stage in their learning. 

•	 We strive for accessible learning—any time, any place. 

•	 We value, respect, and leverage the experiences of our students. 

The NorQuest Learning Experience
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Learner Centred 
•	 We anticipate, understand, and respond to our learners’ needs. 

•	 We deliver programs that provide value to learners’ career goals. 

•	 We use processes that empower our learners. 

Market Driven 
•	 �We anticipate and respond to market demand for our programs and services by 

developing business opportunities and influencing demand. 

•	 �We proactively design and deliver programs and services that are relevant to both the 
workplace and to learners’ career paths. 

Evidence-Based Decisions 
•	 �We make decisions based on data and information, such as financial data, market data, 

performance data, impacts, and relationship data. 

•	 �We make decisions based on evaluation of risk, opportunity, and viability. 

•	 �We consider business opportunities that have various levels of risk and financial return. 

Integrated Organization 
•	 �We function as an integrated organization with shared goals, role clarity, and 

accountability. 

•	 �We create processes that often cross organization structure boundaries to achieve 
expected outcomes of the college. 

•	 �We ensure the path to decisions is clear and accessible. 

•	 �We ensure that integrated processes are transparent, so that each stakeholder in a 
process understands the roles of everyone in the process. 

Entrepreneurial 
•	 �We are alert to, and create, opportunities. 

•	 �We are innovative and flexible in assembling the required resources to capitalize on an 
opportunity. 

•	 �We strive for profitability where the opportunity exists to help offset the cost of 
pursuing other important priorities for our communities and learners. 

Quality and Continuous Improvement 
•	 �We define standards of quality and performance for all aspects of the college. 

•	 �We define expected outcomes and then measure and report our performance against 
those targets. 

•	 �We monitor our improvement and influence organizational behaviour through tools 
such as a balanced scorecard and performance feedback.

Business Model Principles
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In spring 2015, Pharmacy Technician 
graduate Vanyelle Behr became the 
first-ever recipient of the NorQuest 
College President’s Medal. Pictured 
here with her husband (left) and 
her parents just after receiving the 
honour, Behr has since joined a busy 
Edmonton pharmacy. As of fall 2015, 
she was awaiting the results of her 
registered pharmacy technician 
designation exam.

Operational Overview:  
A Year in Review
Celebrating 50 Years with First-Ever President’s Medal
1n 2015, NorQuest celebrated 50 years of creating inclusive communities. As part of that 
celebration, the college introduced the President’s Medal as its highest student distinction. 
The award acknowledges a graduating student who consistently models and exemplifies 
academic achievement, student citizenship, involvement in NorQuest and/or external 
communities, and leadership qualities. The inaugural President’s Medal was presented to 
graduating Pharmacy Technician student Vanyelle Behr by NorQuest College President and 
CEO Dr. Jodi L. Abbott at the May 2015 convocation ceremony. 

Strategic Plan Milestones
Unlocking Potential: NorQuest 2025 Strategic Plan outlines 
a future vision for the college, which NorQuest – and its key 
partners – must work towards on a daily basis. The college 
reached several important milestones this year in moving the 
plan forward, including the development of a Strategic Enrolment 
Management Plan, a Stakeholder Relations Plan, and a Talent 
Management Plan.

Overall Growth
NorQuest College helps students at any stage of learning to 
complete or further their studies with a view to entering the 
workforce. NorQuest has succeeded in attracting a diverse student population 
and is planning to double its impact on the Alberta economy by providing 
20,000 learners a year with workforce-relevant education by 2025. To achieve 
this growth, NorQuest is working to increase learning opportunities for new 
and existing learners, and to increase training opportunities aimed at meeting 
the needs of business and industry. 

In 2014–2015, NorQuest College served 11,552 full-time, part-time, and 
continuing education students. This total is a substantial increase from the 
8,500 students served two years ago.

New Program Development 
In 2014–2015, NorQuest College launched four new credit programs and received approval 
from the Government of Alberta for the launch of two additional programs.  

Programs launched: 

•	 Accounting Technician certificate, September 2014

•	 Community Support Worker certificate, September 2014

•	 Foundations for Learning, September 2014

•	 Literacy & Essential Skills Pathways, January 2015

Programs approved:

•	 Medical Device Reprocessing Technician certificate, launch August 2015

•	 Early Learning & Child Care certificate, launch September 2015
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Operational Overview: A Year in Review

Dual Credit Programs Expanded 
Dual credit programs provide high school students with the opportunity to enrol in and receive 
credit for post-secondary courses while they complete their high school diplomas. The dual 
credit program provides the college with an opportunity to forge partnerships with high schools 
and employers and increase enrolment in career programs. It is an important component of the 
college’s regional stewardship mandate. The main purpose for dual credit is to keep students 
engaged in school and provide a “leg up” in launching a career upon graduation.

NorQuest has been proactive in expanding dual credit programs. In 2014–2015, the college offered 
the Health Care Aide (HCA) program and one University Transfer course (UT) at three different 
high schools, and signed six new memorandums of understanding with school districts for  
2015–2016. NorQuest will be offering HCA, Administrative Professional, eight UT courses, and  
the Service Industry Skills certificate to over 300 high school students throughout its stewardship 
region in 2015–2016.

Alberta Aboriginal Construction Career 
Centre Launched 
The Alberta Aboriginal Construction Career Centre (AACCC) is a 
unique service designed to connect prospective Aboriginal workers 
with employers recruiting for construction related careers. Launched 
in March 2015, it is a partnership with NorQuest College, Bow Valley 
College, the Government of Alberta, various industry partners, and 
Aboriginal organizations.

The AACCC fosters Aboriginal skills development and employment 
while assisting Alberta businesses and industry with key human resource 
objectives. The centre was created in response to Alberta’s continued 
growth and skilled workforce shortages by engaging the resources of 
our urban and rural Aboriginal population through career development/
training and employment opportunities.

Growth in Continuing Education
The college focused on expanding professional development training 
in private and public sector organizations, as well as increasing earnings 
from new business ventures, and building sustainable long-term revenue. 
Highlights included the launch of the Edmonton Oilers Community 
Foundation Hospitality Institute, the introduction of Fire and Safety 
Training, and the development of Personal Resiliency programs for Alberta 
Health. Overall, the college’s business development revenue grew almost  
seven per cent over 2013–2014. 

Ruby Littlechild, manager of the Alberta 
Aboriginal Construction Career Centre 
(AACCC) at NorQuest College, speaks  
to reporters at the AACCC launch in  
spring 2015.
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Operational Overview: A Year in Review

Edmonton Oilers Community Foundation Hospitality 
Institute Launched
The Edmonton Oilers Community Foundation (EOCF) and NorQuest College announced an 
innovative partnership with the unveiling of the college’s new Edmonton Oilers 
Community Foundation Hospitality Institute in 2014. The institute is a hands-on 
training centre where students and current employees from across the province 
can develop in-demand leading-edge skills across a broad range of disciplines, 
including guest services, safety, supervision, service industry operations, and 
event delivery. 

As part of the EOCF’s $1.5 million investment, 100 Edmonton Oilers Community 
Foundation Hospitality Bursaries, valued up to $1000 each, are available on a 
yearly basis for those who require financial support.

From January to September 2015 the EOCF Hospitality Institute totalled:

•	 271 students 

•	 28 courses

•	 Approximately 250 bursaries

New Building Named – The Singhmar 
Centre for Learning 
NorQuest College’s new academic building will be officially known  
as the Singhmar Centre for Learning thanks to a transformational  
$2.5 million investment from Dr. Prem Singhmar and Dr. Saroj Singhmar. 
Opening in 2017, the Singhmar Centre for Learning will be connected 
to the college’s existing main building, the South Learning Centre.  
A renovation and retrofit of the South Learning Centre will ensure  
the two buildings work together to meet the needs of students, 
faculty, and staff.

New Clean Energy Technology Centre 
In May of 2015, NorQuest College signed a joint venture agreement 
with the Town of Drayton Valley for the Clean Energy Technology 
Centre. The centre will be the first facility of its kind in Alberta to 
focus on sustainable economic and social development through 
clean technology. It is designed to support the growth of renewable 
energy markets, create jobs, and bolster economic diversification and 
development. It will provide education and training for local youth 
and emerging professionals; research next generation technologies; and promote new green 
industries. Once completed, the centre will also house the NorQuest College Drayton Valley 
Campus.

Construction of the Singhmar Centre for 
Learning is underway and will be complete  
in 2017. It is the college’s first capital project 
since 1971.
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Operational Overview: A Year in Review

Awards & Recognition
NorQuest College is proud to recognize the achievements of students, employees, and friends 
of the college, and to be recognized for its own achievements. 

NorQuest Confers Honorary Diploma

NorQuest College’s vision is to foster a vibrant, inclusive, and 
diverse learning environment that transforms lives and strengthens 
communities. In 2015, the college bestowed its honorary diploma 
on a pair of recipients who are the embodiment of that vision, 
Reza and Sylvia Nasseri. The Nasseris have had a tremendous 
impact on cultural understanding and better workplace practices 
for the community at large, are strong advocates for human rights 
and intercultural education, and have a special interest in the 
advancement of Aboriginal Peoples. In 2012, they helped establish 
the Landmark Group Centre for Value Improvement at NorQuest 
College.

Jaye Fredrickson Award for Teaching Excellence

It took just three years for academic upgrading instructor Shanna 
Rowney to go from NorQuest student support worker to receiving 
the college’s top teaching award in 2014. The Jaye Fredrickson Award 
for Teaching Excellence is presented annually and recipients are 
nominated by their peers and students. Rowney began her teaching 
career as a tutor with NorQuest in 2011 while still in university.  
As a full-time instructor, she offered lessons that were exciting  
and student centred. Her use of relevant educational technology 
and careful curriculum design made her courses exemplary.

Alberta Nursing Education Administrators’ Leadership in Licensed 
Practical Nursing Education Award

Dawn Witherspoon, associate chair of NorQuest College’s Practical Nurse diploma program, 
received the Alberta Nursing Education Administrators’ Leadership in Licensed Practical Nursing 
Education Award in 2014. The award recognizes leadership in the advancement of nursing 
in education, program development and delivery, educational organization involvement, 
scholarship in teaching and learning, and creating effective practice environments.

Council for Advancement and Support of Education District VIII  
Silver Award – Special Events Category

The Council for Advancement and Support of Education (CASE) recognized NorQuest College’s 
1000 Women: A Million Possibilities movement for its annual fundraising luncheon held in June 
of 2014. In total, the movement raised $375,000 from that luncheon. At the 2015 luncheon, 
another $172,000 was raised. This philanthropic group is made up of supportive and giving 
women and men who share the college’s dream of raising $1 million to create the 1000 Women 
Child Care Centre. Over the past two years, the movement raised $848,000 towards that goal.

NorQuest College conferred its honorary 
diploma to Reza and Sylvia Nasseri at the spring 
2015 convocation ceremony.
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The Idahlynn Karre Exemplary Leadership Award

Patti Hergott, dean of Foundational, Career, and Intercultural Studies, was honoured 
with the Idahlynn Karre Exemplary Leadership award in April of 2015. Presented 
by the Chair Academy, the award is the academy’s top annual honour, recognizing 
exemplary organizational leadership. Nominated by her co-workers, Hergott is 
well known for her ability to empower, create passion in her staff, and guide the 
development of several innovative programs, making her an excellent choice.

Society for Teaching and Learning in Higher Education – 
College Sector Educator Award

In 2015, English as a Second Language (ESL) instructor and curriculum developer Amy 
Abe won the Society for Teaching and Learning in Higher Education (STLHE) College 
Sector Educator award. The society described Abe as an innovative, outside-the-box 
thinker whose work is grounded in theory and research.

Alberta Teachers of English as a Second Language Lifetime 
Membership Award

Tom Jiry was recognized in 2014 by the Alberta Teachers of English as a Second 
Language (ATESL) association as a professional who has made exemplary 
contributions to the ESL teaching field in Alberta. Jiry began his teaching 
career in 1981. After several years as a junior high school teacher, he began 
teaching ESL night classes to adults in 1984, and joined NorQuest as an 
ESL instructor in 1988.

Alberta Teachers of English as a Second Language 
Carolyn Dieleman Award

The Carolyn Dieleman Award, presented by the Alberta Teachers of  
English as a Second Language association, celebrates individuals who  
have made an impact on the delivery of, and access to, innovative and  
quality language and ESL programs in Alberta. NorQuest instructor  
Bonnie Nicholas received the honour in 2014 for her exemplary  
teaching methods.

Operational Overview: A Year in Review

L to R: Award-winning English as a Second 
Language instructors Bonnie Nicholas and 
Tom Jiry.

Dean of Foundational, Career, 
and Intercultural Studies  
Patti Hergott.
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The Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act, which came into force  
June 1, 2013 requires the college to report annually on the number of disclosures received, 
number of investigations commenced, and any measures taken from an investigation in  
relation to the wrongdoing. 

2014–2015 Reports

General Inquiries		  0

Disclosures of Wrongdoing	 0

Investigations		  0

Reports Written		  0

Public Interest Disclosure
(Whistleblower Protection) Act

The celebration of hobbies and traditional 
practices of people from around the world helps 
make NorQuest College a more accepting and 
understanding place to learn and work.
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Diploma
Business Administration* 

Pharmacy Technician 

Physical Therapy Assistant 

Practical Nurse

Practical Nurse Refresher 

Social Work

Therapeutic Recreation (certificate also offered)

Certificate
Accounting Technician 

Administrative Professional

Community Support Worker

Health Care Aide

Health Care Aide PLAR 

Hospital Unit Clerk

Therapeutic Recreation (diploma also offered)

Post-Basic Certificate
Advanced Education in Orthopaedics for LPNs

Preparation for Employment or  
Further Education
Academic Preparation 

Academic Upgrading (9–12) 

Basic Education (7–9)

GED Preparation

Prep for Practical Nurse

Youth in Transition

Foundations for Learning

Introduction to Computers

Domestic Violence Intervention

Employment Preparation 
Apprenticeship Prep

Day Home Provider

Literacy and Essential Skills Pathways

Transitions to Employment

International English Language Testing System 
(general and academic)

English Language Training
English as a Second Language (ESL) Intensive

Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada 
(LINC)

NorQuest College Programs 2014–2015

*   �Brokered from Grande Prairie Regional College
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Continuing Education 
Programs
Customer Service Skills Training

English in the Workplace

Home Inspection Certificate

Intercultural Practitioner Certificate Level I 

Intercultural Practitioner Certificate Level II 

Intercultural Practitioner Certificate Level III

Lean Six Sigma Green Belt 

Medical Device Reprocessing Technician 

Project Assistant

Psycho-Social Recovery Program for 
Disaster Volunteers 

Strategic Social Media for Organizations

Supervisor and Management 

Taxi Ambassador

Taxi Ambassador for Vehicles for Hire

Basic Life Support for Health Care Providers

WHMIS

Human Bloodborne Pathogen Exposure

Microsoft Office for Business

Diversity and Inclusion Train-the-Trainer

Service Industry Skills

GED Prep and Exam

 
 

Lean Green Belt

Medical Office Administration

Intercultural Training – Something’s Up 
Workshop

Intercultural Training – Culture Specific 
Workshop

Foundations of Teaching and Learning for 
the Adult Learner

Interculturalization of the Curriculum

Orientation for Child Care

Emergency First Aid

Faculty Intercultural Training

Intercultural Foundations for Teams and 
Leaders

Microsoft Project 2013

Facilitated Work Placement 

Pharmacist Injection Training

Minute Taking for Professionals

Microsoft Visio Training

NorQuest College also offers a wide 
range of university transfer, professional 
development, and personal interest 
continuing education courses.

NorQuest College Programs 2014–2015
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Six Areas of Focus
Every organization strives to convert strategy into action with measurable results. At NorQuest 
College, the Six Areas of Focus are the lens through which the college determines its priorities and 
actions, and provide a framework for the Comprehensive Institutional Plan. The college continually 
strives to promote a line of sight from these objectives and goals to the work of employees on the 
front line. First articulated in 2011, the Six Areas of Focus are as follows: 

1.	 Maximize college effectiveness, quality, and funding 

2.	 �Rationalize college programs on the basis of workforce relevance or economic 
impact/contribution 

3.	� Build and leverage investor/partner relationships for the purpose of innovation 

4.	 �Build a college brand consistent with a focus on workforce development, 
advancement, and customer value 

5.	� Align staffing and human resource strategies with the Strategic Plan, 
Comprehensive Institutional Plan, and Six Areas of Focus 

6.	� Foster a unique learning experience characterized by inclusive culture, 
exemplary faculty, authentic experiences, and accessible learning

Goals, Priority Initiatives, Expected  
Outcomes, and Performance Measures

NorQuest College’s Canada Day celebration and the numerous 50th 
anniversary celebrations held throughout the year were very popular events 
in 2015 for students, employees, and friends of the college.
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The following table summarizes the progress NorQuest College has made on 
the Six Areas of Focus. 

1.	 Maximize college effectiveness, quality, and funding

Type Description Status Progress Made in Last 12 Months

1.2 Maintain current consolidated 
satisfaction score of students, and 
internal and external stakeholders 
(88.5%).

Exceeded Achieved 90.2% in consolidated satisfaction score.

1.3 Achieve $500,000 in hard and soft 
value reinvestments from process 
improvements.

Exceeded Achieved $731,965 in hard and soft value reinvestments from process 
improvements.

1.4 Achieve a 5% year-over-year 
increase in alternative funding from 
2013–2014 baseline.

Exceeded Increased alternative funding revenue by 7% over 2013–2014 results in the 
areas of business services, contracts & grants, continuing education (non-
credit), corporate training, and research.

1.5 Implement Year 2 of International 
Strategy.

Partially 
achieved

Achieved 10 out of 12 performance measures:
1.	 Enrolled 219 international students (target: 160)
2.	 Recruited from more than 22 countries (target: 4 countries)
3.	 Improved lead time to a two-day average for international student 

admissions (target: median 5 business days)
4.	 Increased unique web page views by 105% from previous year  

(target: 20% increase)
5.	 Achieved 3 partnership agreements with other Alberta post-

secondary institutions (target: 2)
6.	 Earned $215,300 of annual domestic revenue  

(target: $170,000 – 26% over target)
7.	 Signed 3 international contracts (target: 1)
8.	 Earned $36,452 in annual international revenue  

(target: $10,000 – 265% over target)
9.	 Made 9 international solicitations (target: 6)
10.	 �Entered 4 international markets (target: 3)

Goals, Priority Initiatives, Expected  
Outcomes, and Performance Measures
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2.	� Rationalize college programs on the basis of workforce relevance or economic impact/contribution

Type Description Status Progress Made in Last 12 Months

2.1 Establish 8 new workforce-relevant 
programs.

Exceeded Launched 13 non-credit programs and 4 credit programs. 
Non-credit programs:
1.	 Facilitated Work Placement 
2.	 Service Industry Skills
3.	 �Personal and Community Resilience in Disaster Recovery
4.	 Lean Green Belt Blended Delivery
5.	 �Fire and Safety Training (24 courses)
6.	 Lean Yellow Belt
7.	 Lean White Belt
8.	 Microsoft Project Level One
9.	 �Diversity and Inclusion Train the Trainer
10.	 Building Service Worker (refresher)
11.	 International English Language Testing System Academic Preparation
12.	 Domestic Violence Intervention
13.	 Guest Services Training 
Credit programs:
1.	 Community Support Worker certificate, September 2014
2.	 Accounting Technician certificate, September 2014
3.	 Foundations for Learning, September 2014
4.	 Literacy and Essential Skills Pathways, January 2015

2.2 Achieve enrolment target of 3,714 
full-load equivalents. 

Exceeded Increased enrolment to 4,120 full-load equivalents.

2.3 Achieve a 2% year-over-year 
increase of internal students and 
alumni transfers to post-secondary 
programs from 2013–2014 baseline 
of 23%.

Target 
not met  

Internal student transfer rate for 2014–2015 decreased to 18.61%, a 
reduction of 4.38% from 2013–2014 baseline of 23%. 
There was a 1.2% increase from 2013–2014 in actual student numbers who 
laddered to other programs. There was, however, a large increase in LINC 
students who were all new to the college. This pushed up the proportion 
of new vs. laddering students in the total population and therefore 
impacted the results negatively. 

Goals, Priority Initiatives, Expected  
Outcomes, and Performance Measures
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3. �Build and leverage investor/partner relationships for the purpose of innovation

Type Description Status Progress Made in Last 12 Months

3.1 Complete 4 milestones for the 
Downtown Campus Development 
Project.

Exceeded Completed 7 milestones:
1.	 Procured laneway
2.	 Completed laneway remediation
3.	 Relocated and/or removed utilities
4.	 Completed Singhmar Centre for Learning design
5.	 Started construction on Singhmar Centre for Learning
6.	 Submitted parkade business case to Government of Alberta
7.	 Implemented interim parking plan

3.2 Achieve 55% ($11M) of total 
Maximizing Opportunities:  
The NorQuest Campaign goal. 

Partially 
achieved

Raised $9.4M of $11.0M target. Target partially achieved in part due to 
Alberta's current economic environment.

3.3 Initiate 3 collaborative 
opportunities for shared services, 
transfer agreements, etc.

Exceeded   Project Management Services
Executed an agreement with the University of Alberta to provide project 
management services expertise for the Downtown Campus Development 
Project.

Dual Credit Initiatives
Expanded dual credit offerings in Health Care Aide (HCA) and 1 University 
Transfer (UT) course at 3 different high schools in 2014–2015 and signed 6 
new MOUs with school districts for 2015–2016. 

Lambton College Agreement
Executed an agreement with Lambton College on Graduate Studies 
certificate and diploma programs to provide increased post-secondary 
options for Alberta students.

Goals, Priority Initiatives, Expected  
Outcomes, and Performance Measures
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4. �Build a college brand consistent with a focus on workforce development, advancement, and 
customer value

Type Description Status Progress Made in Last 12 Months

4.1 Increase brand awareness and 
reputation by 2% from 2012–2013 
Brand and Reputation Survey results 
– external stakeholders.

Exceeded Increased brand awareness to 38% of survey respondents (up from 34%  
in 2012) who indicated NorQuest was in the top five institutions that 
come to mind when thinking about post-secondary institutions in central/
northern Alberta.

5. �Align staffing and human resource strategies with the Strategic Plan, Comprehensive Institutional 
Plan, and Six Areas of Focus

Type Description Status Progress Made in Last 12 Months

5.1 Continue implementation of 
employee engagement plan.

Achieved Completed 14 of 14 measures: 
•	 3 public and stakeholder events held
•	 Internal awards verified
•	 Employee Q&As completed
•	 College-Wide Learning Day held
•	 President succession plan completed
•	 Performance management pilot expanded
•	 Processes for accessing professional development communicated
•	 Engaged managers in annual budget assessment
•	 New Employee Assistance Program for wellness completed
•	 Year at a Glance calendar completed
•	 Regular meetings with AUPE and Faculty Association held
•	 Town hall meetings for information sharing implemented
•	 Cross-portfolio participation in meetings
•	 Informal engagement of senior officials with employees

5.2 Achieve 75% completion on 
employee annual performance 
reviews for pilot participants within 
three months of year-end point. 

Achieved 75% of employees completed annual performance reviews.

5.3 Achieve 65% completion on 
employee mid-year check-ins for 
pilot participants within one month 
of mid-year point.

Exceeded   97% of employees completed mid-year check-ins.

5.4 Develop a holistic Talent 
Management Plan.

Achieved Completed Talent Management Plan.

Goals, Priority Initiatives, Expected  
Outcomes, and Performance Measures
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6. �Foster a unique learning experience characterized by inclusive culture, exemplary faculty, 
authentic experiences, and accessible learning

Type Description Status Progress Made in Last 12 Months

6.1 Employees have satisfactory level 
of intercultural competence as 
measured by a multi-faceted 
intercultural competence 
assessment (30% of employees at 
satisfactory level or above).

Exceeded 53% of current employees have reached the satisfactory level of 
intercultural competence on college’s formal Inclusion Engagement Scale. 
Of these, 48% are rated at the exemplary level. 

6.2 Implement Year 2 of Aboriginal 
Learner Strategy. 

Partially 
achieved

Completed measures:
1.	 Operationalized Alberta Aboriginal Construction Career Centre. 

(target registrants exceeded by 50%)
2.	 Achieved 83% Aboriginal student course completion rate  

(target: 80%)
3.	 Graduated 74 Aboriginal students (target: 70)
4.	 Engaged 33 Aboriginal students in RBC Mentorship Program  

(target: 15)
5.	 Achieved $174,000 revenue from Aboriginal student tuition  

(target: $150,000)

6.3 Secure external approvals on 4 
applied research proposals.

Exceeded   Secured 8 external applied research projects with a total funding value of 
$756,237. 

6.4 Increase learning management 
system (Moodle) utilization.

Achieved 90% employee satisfaction rate with Moodle.
91% overall student satisfaction rate with Moodle.

Goals, Priority Initiatives, Expected  
Outcomes, and Performance Measures
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Access and Quality

Strategic Enrolment Management  
To meet the goals outlined in Unlocking Potential: NorQuest 2025 Strategic Plan, NorQuest 
developed a new Strategic Enrolment Management (SEM) plan that defines the academic 
direction the college will take in the next 10 years. A SEM committee led the development of 
the plan with approximately 95 employees engaged in the process over the past year. 

The SEM plan includes 10 main themes:

1.	 Create and maintain an institutional culture conducive to SEM planning. 

2.	 �Create and execute a comprehensive program mix that will evolve to meet the 
institutional 2025 vision.

3.	 �Develop and implement a complete academic program pricing and funding model 
which also considers overall value as an impact on institutional brand. 

4.	 �Increase enrolment from under-represented learners, including Aboriginal youth 
populations and immigrants.

5.	 �Become data-informed in matters pertaining to SEM to bridge current gaps in  
essential data.

6.	 Focus on access to the college by eliminating barriers to enrolment. 

7.	 �Enhance student success and engagement through increased attention to retention, 
completion, laddering, and successful employment activities. 

8.	 Clarify regional offerings. 

9.	 �Engage NorQuest’s alumni to further bolster institutional reputation and increase 
enrolment. 

10.	 �Define what continuing education means to NorQuest and determine the role of 
continuing education in meeting the college’s strategic plan.  

Expansion of Workforce-Relevant Programming 
Opportunities 
In consultation with stakeholders and employers in its stewardship region, NorQuest College 
continued to develop and implement workforce-relevant programming, and a portfolio of 
non-credit continuing education offerings to address the needs of employers, employees,  
and students. 

In 2014–2015, NorQuest worked to solidify processes, increase support to academic 
departments, and improve the overall quality of its program proposals.

Credit Program Development

Four new credit programs were launched in 2014–2015 and two more were approved by the 
Government of Alberta. See page 10 for details.
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Programs Under Review for Government Approval  
(as of June 30, 2015)
•	 �Global Business Management graduate certificate (NOTE:  included in our 2015–2018 

Comprehensive Institutional Plan)

Programs in Development (as of June 30, 2015)
•	 Addictions & Mental Health diploma

•	 �Advanced Health Care Leadership (Grad Studies 
certificate)

•	 �Business Administration diploma (NorQuest 
credential in development)

•	 �Community Support Worker Streams (disability, 
Aboriginal, and senior)

•	 Disabilities Studies diploma

•	 Early Learning & Child Care diploma

•	 Education Assistant certificate

•	 Justice certificate

•	 Occupational Health & Safety certificate

•	 Patient Navigator

Programs Approved by Board to 
Terminate (as of June 30, 2015)
•	 �Aboriginal Community Support Worker (replaced 

with Community Support Worker certificate)

•	 Aboriginal Policing and Security certificate

•	 �Administrative Professional certificate-
Accounting Assistant (replaced with new 
Administrative Professional certificate and 
diploma)

•	 Digital Graphics Communications diploma

•	 Health Care Aide (replaced with new curriculum)

•	 Print Media Production

Continuing Education Programs

See page 17.

Access and Quality

National Aboriginal Day in June 2015 brought people of all 
backgrounds together for a great day of drumming, dancing, 
and food.
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Curriculum Sustainment Projects
NorQuest used the Curriculum Sustainment Fund to enhance and update the college's current 
courses and programs: 

•	 Licensed Practical Nurse continuing education courses

•	 Information Literacy resources

•	 Pharmacy Tech orientation video

•	 Literacy and Essential Skills Pathways

•	 English for Academic Purposes

•	 University Transfer online courses

•	 Centre for Intercultural Education

•	 Administrative Professional online courses

•	 ESL online courses

•	 Academic Upgrading multimedia resources 

•	 Research to support program reviews

eCampusAlberta
Enrolment in eCampusAlberta courses increased significantly this year by 
36 per cent, growing from 1,270 learners in 2013–2014 to 1,723 learners in 
2014–2015. This increase was due, in part, to the introduction and popularity 
of the Foundations for Learning program. The Health Care Aide program also 
increased enrolment.

Academic Quality Assurance
The academic review process continues to be refined every year as part of the college’s 
program lifecycle management. The program review process follows a six-year cyclical cycle.

In 2014–2015, the college successfully completed 10 program reviews:

•	 Academic Upgrading

•	 ESL

•	 Health Care Aide

•	 Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada (LINC)

•	 Pharmacy Technician

•	 Physical Therapy Assistant

•	 Social Work

•	 Therapeutic Recreation

•	 Transitions to Employment

•	 Youth In Transition

Access and Quality

Graduates of NorQuest’s Practical 
Nurse diploma program have an 
excellent employment rate and can 
look forward to work in acute care 
hospitals, continuing care centres, 
community care settings, client homes, 
clinics, or doctors’ offices.
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Comprehensive reviews involving an external reviewer will be completed by December 2015 for 
the following programs:

•	 Hospital Unit Clerk

•	 Administrative Professional

•	 Practical Nurse

•	 Day Home Provider

Additionally, the college piloted a new post-implementation review process with the 
Apprenticeship Prep program. The intention is to gain insight into the program launch 
experience, share the lessons learned with internal stakeholders, and improve the experience for 
students, faculty, and staff.

Student Navigators
In 2013–2014, NorQuest expanded its student advising model to develop a more efficient and 
student-centred approach that enables students to access reliable and consistent services from 
student navigators throughout their entire student journey. In 2014–2015, student navigators 
served both applicants and students through 20,227 face-to-face and telephone appointments.

The Navigator/Academic Advising (NAVAA) project 
launched a pilot in fall 2013 with students from the 
Faculty of Foundational, Career, and Intercultural 
Studies (FCIS) and the Practical Nurse diploma 
program. Phase 2 of the project began in 2014–2015 
and focused on the intake process for foundational 
programs in FCIS. Phase 3 began in January 2015 with 
the rollout of navigator services for all remaining 
credit programs. 

The NAVAA project will officially become 
operational in the 2015–2016 academic year. Plans 
for continuous improvement projects will allow for 
additional opportunities to constantly adjust and 
improve services offered to students.  

Enhanced Online Tutorial 
Support and eTutor Pilot
To increase online support services to students, the college launched an enhanced online 
tutorial support model in 2014–2015. The new model provides synchronous support for regional, 
online/eCampus, and distance students. 

The college also participated in eCampusAlberta’s eTutor pilot program, an asynchronous shared 
service contract that involved the college’s Writing Centre and nine other post-secondary 
institutions in Alberta. The pilot is especially useful to students who do not have access to face-
to-face support services. 

The college served 231 students from September 2014 to June 2015 through these online services.

Access and Quality

L to R: NorQuest Resident Elders Tony Arcand (downtown 
campus), Delores Cardinal (downtown campus), and Mary 
Moonias (Wetaskiwin campus) are available to provide support 
and advice to all NorQuest College students.
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Student Transfer and Assessment
NorQuest College promises to maximize opportunities others don’t see. Recognizing learners’ 
full range of knowledge, skills, and competencies through Prior Learning Assessment and 
Recognition (PLAR) is one method of maximizing these opportunities. Developed this past 
year, NorQuest’s four-year PLAR plan ensures that PLAR development is supported and 
sustained across the college.

The plan addresses:

•	 Improved learner access to PLAR

•	 �Increased information, awareness, and support for PLAR throughout the  
college community

•	 Quality Assurance for NorQuest’s PLAR practices

•	 Evaluation/research of our practices

The college assessed 336 students in 2014–2015 for Advanced Credit (1269 courses).

Learning Management System Implementation Project
The integration of eLearning into the college’s core business, and the growing demand for 
alternative delivery, have created some significant challenges to traditional business practices 
and processes at NorQuest. The Learning Management System (LMS) Implementation Project 
enabled the college to review and examine eLearning implementation, the supports needed 
for day-to-day operations in the classroom, and to determine best practices that will result in 
achieving excellence in online and hybrid learning. Over the past two-and-a-half years, all four 
objectives of the project were achieved:

1.	� Implement Moodle technology (NorQuest’s chosen LMS) to deliver and support all 
current online course offerings at NorQuest.

2.	�Implement the supports, including providing the training to students, faculty, and staff 
required to sustain LMS operations.

3.	�Implement the LMS system to enhance learning for learners in all modalities following 
the best practices for online delivery, incorporating course quality assurance, increasing 
accessibility, and incorporating the principles of Universal Design to accommodate 
individual learning differences.

4.	�Migrate all courses to Moodle by the end of the project.

NorQuest asked students and employees to rate their satisfaction with Moodle. The Student 
Satisfaction Survey showed 91 per cent of respondents being satisfied or very satisfied with 
most aspects of Moodle. The Internal Client Survey showed a 90 per cent satisfaction rate by 
employees with Moodle. 

Access and Quality
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College-Wide Learning Outcomes
College-Wide Learning Outcomes reflect the essential skills, abilities, and attitudes that 
NorQuest promotes in its programs and culture. These outcomes enrich the learning 
experience, and benefit the workplace and community.

This year, NorQuest focused on ‘creative and critical thinking’–the process that requires 
learners to analyze, create, and reflect as they broaden their knowledge and enhance their 
reasoning skills. 

One of the initiatives undertaken for this outcome was 
NorQuest’s first Human Library event. Held in March 2015, 
the event saw people of diverse backgrounds or unique life 
experiences volunteer to be living books that readers would 
“borrow” for conversation. Human Libraries are a means of 
creating safe spaces for dialogue, increasing understanding 
of others’ experiences and perspectives, and challenging 
prejudice. 

Access and Quality

Top: The Human Library event was a big hit, providing attendees the opportunity to 
converse with volunteers who served as living books. This allowed all participants to 
gain new perspectives on a wide variety of people and cultures. 

Below: Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada (LINC) students share their 
messages of inclusion at a NorQuest College event.
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NorQuest College experienced a year of growth for research and scholarship in 2014–2015 
with the addition of six new externally-funded applied research grants valued at more than 
$750,000. Projects spanned across the college and engaged a variety of community partners. 

NorQuest’s Centre for Intercultural Education established major research partnerships 
with the Alberta Teachers of English as a Second Language association. It also collaborated 
with Bow Valley College on the creation of an ESL eTextbook as part of the Government of 
Alberta’s Open Educational Resources Initiative. In March 2015, the Landmark Group Centre 
for Value Improvement successfully partnered with an Alberta printing company to receive 
a National Research Council Business Innovation Access Program grant. The Practical Nurse 
diploma program undertook several projects, including a major study of factors affecting 
student retention and success, as well as the development of skill-based videos to improve 
orthopaedic care. 

In 2014–2015, NorQuest College became one of 12 Canadian institutions 
participating in the Educational Policy Research Initiative’s Tax-Linkage 
project linking student administrative data to Statistics Canada tax data. 
With results expected in March 2016, the initiative will provide the college 
with a snapshot of the long-term outcomes of its graduates and the financial 
benefits of its programming.

A major research milestone for NorQuest took place in June 2015 when 
the college was awarded its first Tri-Council grant. The three-year project 
was funded through the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council’s 
Community and College Social Innovation Fund. NorQuest is partnering with 
the Edmonton Public Library and over 45 community agencies to examine 
loneliness and how self-esteem contributes to social capital and ultimately a 
better life for marginalized persons.

In addition to its funded research, a variety of unfunded research and quality 
improvement projects took place across the college. Projects included studies in  
the scholarship of teaching and learning, student retention, and correctional education.  
As well, NorQuest faculty and staff presented their research at local, provincial, national, and 
international conferences. Red Deer College’s Research Ethics Board reviewed and approved 
all applied research projects following the signing of a memorandum of understanding 
between NorQuest and Red Deer Colleges. 

Through its continued involvement with the Institute for Continuing Care Education and 
Research (ICCER), the college continues to work towards the establishment of a Teaching & 
Research Continuing Care Centre. Towards that end, ICCER has undertaken a retrospective 
study to identify how it has positively impacted the continuing care landscape in Alberta and 
across Canada. In addition, NorQuest continues to research innovative educational practices 
and the long-term economic and social impact of its present educational models through 
projects such as the Health Care Aide Workforce Delivery Model (funded by the Health 
Workforce Action Plan), the Orthopaedic Video Training Project (funded by Covenant Health), 
and the Education Policy Research Initiative Tax-Linkage Project. 

Developing internal research capacity has been a major priority for NorQuest this year with 
a variety of offerings for professional development and research collaborations for faculty, 
staff, and students. In January 2015, the college launched the Research Workshop Series and a 
Research Speakers’ Series. The college also established a comprehensive research policy and 
procedure framework in spring 2015.

Research, Applied Research,  
and Scholarly Activities

Every year, NorQuest 
College celebrates 
its commitment to 
teaching and learning 
at a Faculty Jamboree.
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Community Adult Learning Hubs
In 2014–2015, NorQuest College, the City of Leduc, and the County of Leduc began to explore 
the establishment of a Community Adult Learning Centre in Leduc that would offer one central 
location for adult learners. There were several challenges that delayed its establishment, including 
finding a suitable location, financial considerations, limited data on learner needs, and defining 
the optimal staffing and support model. Despite these challenges, NorQuest and Leduc remain 
committed to the project. The college also continues to work with communities in its region to 
identify ways to best serve the educational needs of Albertans.

Westlock Campus Closure
After six years of operating as a regional steward, NorQuest College assessed its physical presence 
in the Westlock area. With face-to-face enrolment decreasing due to the increased availability 
of online learning options and the termination of the college’s local lease by the Town of 
Westlock, it became necessary to examine the effectiveness of this campus. Following careful 
deliberations, the difficult decision was made to permanently close the college’s physical campus 
in the community on July 3, 2015. NorQuest continues to maintain a presence in Westlock by 
collaborating with the municipality as well as with community stakeholders and learning partners 
to ensure access to education for adult learners in the area.

Dual Credit Initiatives
Dual credit offerings provide the college with an opportunity to forge partnerships with high 
schools and employers, and increase enrolment in career programs. The main purpose for dual 
credit is to keep students engaged in school and provide a “leg up” in launching a career upon 
graduation. Dual credit is an important component of the college’s regional stewardship mandate. 
See page 11 for more details. 

Aboriginal Learners 
NorQuest College continues to build relationships with the eight First Nations bands in its regional 
stewardship area. Past conversations have focused on identification of programming needs and the 
delivery of programming, such as hospitality training, where appropriate. The Alberta Aboriginal 
Construction Career Centre also serves clients from the surrounding communities and beyond by 
providing skills and training to obtain employment in the construction industry. Additionally, the 
college works with the bands to provide student support and service management, and to assist 
students with band funding.  

Workforce Advisory Council
Work continues with the Workforce Advisory Council whose members are forward thinking 
community leaders who stepped forward as part of the solution to fill the gaps in Alberta’s labour 
needs. The council focuses primarily on five industry sectors: construction, financial services, 
health and wellness, hospitality and service, and manufacturing, and provides ongoing comments 
and suggestions for workforce-relevant programming.

Community 
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NorQuest College served a learner population of 4,129 full-load equivalents (FLEs) over the 
fiscal year, exceeding the targeted number by 406 FLEs. The college saw more part-time 
online, face-to-face, and distance learners with a measurable decline in the number of full-
time students. The overall number of FLEs showed an increased demand in programs such as 
Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada (LINC), Administrative Professional, Practical 
Nurse, Advanced Education in Orthopaedics, Open Studies, Therapeutic Recreation diploma, 
and Apprenticeship Prep.

The college improved and automated a number of processes to increase efficiencies in 
admissions and enrolment this year, including:

•	 Acceptance of e-documents to speed up processing and admission of applicants.

•	 �Removal of course registration form for Academic Upgrading students, which allowed 
the college to process enrolments.

•	 Removal of re-admission processes for ongoing students.

•	 Streamlining of third-party contract payments. 

•	 �Development of process to close applications based on information provided by  
the applicant.

•	 Removal of financial barriers for students awaiting funding.

Targeted Enrolment Expansion Grant
The NorQuest College Board of Governors approved the 2015–2016 budget on May 11, 2015.  
The budget included Targeted Enrolment Expansion grant funding to support the Foundations 
for Learning program and the Early Learning and Child Care certificate program. As a result, 
recruitment of students commenced in 2014. In July 2015, the Government of Alberta 
decreased the Targeted Enrolment Expansion grant. This will impact the budget in 2015–2016 
because the cost of the two programs for 2015–2016 were incurred in 2014–2015.

Enrolment 

NorQuest graduates leave the college with the skills and 
work ethic that employers want and need, or with the 
tools that allow them to continue on to higher education.
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NorQuest College continued to build on its technology 
infrastructure to extend educational resources and services 
to its stakeholders 

This year, the college undertook a number of initiatives to 
keep pace with student, faculty, and staff needs, including:

•	 �Upgraded PeopleSoft and Moodle software, which 
enhanced functionality, provided better access, and  
(in Moodle) reduced set-up time for instructors. 

•	 �Increased wireless, network, and internet capacity, 
which extended student access to services and 
provided regional sites better access to the college 
network. 

•	 �Added over 300 laptops on mobile carts for 
instructional use in classrooms to allow for additional 
student computing capacity beyond traditional 
computer labs.

The 2015 Government of Alberta announcement to freeze fees charged by 
post-secondary institutions, specifically a technology fee at the college, will 
significantly impact future IT infrastructure initiatives.

Information Technology

NorQuest College instructors engage 
learners though innovative approaches 
to education.

The Stan in a Van program features a fully loaded minivan which is the road home  
of the NorQuest family of patient simulators. Providing hands-on experience to 
students, the van brings today’s technology to NorQuest students at off-campus  
and regional locations.
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NorQuest’s International Strategy demonstrates the college's commitment to the 
internationalization of the institution. The strategy’s ultimate outcome is for NorQuest 
completers/graduates to obtain global and intercultural knowledge and competencies. These 
are required to perform professionally, socially, and emotionally in an increasingly globalized 
and multicultural society.

To accomplish this, the college is focusing on the following areas:

1.	 �Increasing the number and diversity of students in a learning institution that is inclusive 
of different cultures, ways of knowing, and ways of being.

2.	 �Increasing employees’ capacity to be internationally active and incorporate 
intercultural and international content into their teaching, research, business, and 
service activities.

3.	 �Increasing academic and co-curricular programming on our campuses that promotes 
intercultural awareness, understanding and empathy, employment readiness, and 
comparative and critical analysis skills development.

NorQuest College’s International Strategy achieved the following in 2014–2015:

•	 �A total of 214 international students participated 
in NorQuest credit and non-credit programs. 
The college must consider how it can attract 
and retain international learners in the current 
economic environment, which will contribute 
to provincial economic growth and NorQuest’s 
own institutional growth strategy. The objective 
of growing international students at NorQuest 
aligns well with the Government of Canada’s 
International Education Strategy to double the 
number of international post-secondary students 
in Canada by 2022 in an effort to create jobs and 
stimulate the economy.

•	 �NorQuest obtained three international contracts 
to provide training and support to partner colleges 
in the USA and Peru.

•	 �The college launched a postgraduate certificate program in 
partnership with Lambton College in Sarnia, Ontario that will be 
of particular interest to international students (currently under 
review by the Government of Alberta).

•	 �The college obtained nine contracts through the Centre for 
Intercultural Education to provide intercultural training to businesses and other 
educational institutes in Canada.

•	 �The college led two recruitment missions to India, which resulted in increased 
applications and student admissions from that country.

Internationalization

NorQuest College’s international 
students help to create an atmosphere of 
acceptance, inclusion, and global awareness.
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Description Status Expected 
Completion 
Date

Progress Made in Last 12 Months

Downtown Campus 
Development Project

In progress Fall 2019 NorQuest received funding of $34 million from the Government of Alberta 
this year for the Downtown Campus Development Project. Financial 
commitments were approximately $100 million by June 30, 2015. The 
construction of the Singhmar Centre for Learning is well underway and is on 
budget. The opening is targeted for fall 2017. Deliverables completed for 2015 
included:
•	 Execution of agreements with the City of Edmonton to procure the 

laneway between 102 and 103 avenues, and 107 and 108 streets
•	 Site preparation completed and included remediation of the site, and 

relocation and removal of utilities
•	 Awarded the construction contracts for the loading dock and the 

Singhmar Centre for Learning 
•	 Approval and submission of a business case supported by board 

resolutions to the provincial government requesting permission to 
borrow funds for the underground parking garage

•	 Commencement of construction for the loading dock and Singhmar 
Centre for Learning 

Security and Emergency 
Response Planning 
Project 

In progress 2016 NorQuest continued to move forward with the Security and Emergency 
Response Planning Project. During the year, beacons and digital displays were 
installed at all campus buildings and a new mass-notification system was 
operational by December. 

Two main components of the project have yet to be completed: business 
continuity plans and an upgrade of Closed Circuit TV system (CCTV). The 
Campus Alberta Risk Assurance Committee agreed to support business 
continuity planning for post-secondary institutes and planning began in 
fall 2015. Upgrading to support the CCTV system in the downtown campus 
buildings is targeted to be complete by end of 2015.

Deferred Maintenance Completed   June 30, 2015 NorQuest received $377,000 in Infrastructure Maintenance Program (IMP) 
funding for 2014–2015. Maintenance included replacing flooring in three 
rooms, upgrading three washrooms, and more. 

Funded from 
accumulated surplus

Completed June 30, 2015 The college ranks and reviews its yearly prioritization of project submissions 
against the Six Areas of Focus. The college allocated $2,724,000 for capital 
projects and came in within budget. Projects included:
•	 Upgrade of PeopleSoft to version 9.2, which went live in April 2015 
•	 Completion of a non-credit online registration and payment project 

charter and workplan to enhance online access 
•	 Installation of two exterior electronic signs 
•	 Evergreening purchases of hardware, electric beds to support health care 

programs, furniture, and library collection
•	 Purchases of laptops, laptop carts, and smartboards to meet student 

program demand 

Capital Plan



NORQUEST COLLEGE 36

Management Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion and analysis of the financial statements 
should be reviewed in conjunction with the audited financial 
statements and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
The financial statements represent the financial position and 
results of operations for NorQuest College for the year ended 
June 30, 2015. The college’s consolidated financial statements for 
2014–2015 have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards (“PSAS” without PS 4200 series of 
standards) as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board. 

Statement of Financial Position 

Total Assets

Total Assets have increased by $3.7 million over the prior year to 
a total of $111.2 million which was mainly driven by an increase 
of $15.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, and $12.5 million in 
tangible capital assets and partially offset by a decrease of  
$23 million in portfolio investments, and $0.9 million in accounts 
receivable. The decrease in portfolio investments was the result 
of the maturing of investments which were partially used for the 
Downtown Campus Development Project – Singhmar Centre 
for Learning; and a portion to cash and cash equivalents. The 
increase in tangible capital assets was largely the result of land 
acquisition and work-in-progress relating to the Downtown 
Campus Development Project. 

Total Liabilities 

Total Liabilities have increased by $2.3 million over the prior 
year to a total of $75.7 million. This was largely attributed to an 
increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Deferred 
revenues remained consistent with the prior year as current year 
deferred grant revenue increases approximated the revenue 
recognized against unspent capital contributions. Over the fiscal 
year the college completed the one-time Health Workforce 
Action Plan grant by applying it to the Practical Nurse diploma 
program and the Rural Routes Extension grant. 

Net Assets 

Net Assets have increased by $1.4 million from $34.1 million in 
2013–2014 to $35.5 million in 2014–2015 as a result of an increase 
in the accumulated operating surplus of $1.4 million. The college 
has increased its internally restricted net assets and accumulated 
surplus from operations by $1.4 million, and maintained its 
investment in capital assets. These changes are the result of 
the college’s focus on contributing to its net assets while still 
investing in capital assets.

Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30, 2015 the college reported a  
$1.4 million excess of revenue over expenses comparing to a  
$0.8 million excess in 2013–2014. 

Revenues 

Total revenue increased by $2.1 million (2.8 per cent) compared 
to the prior year: $76.0 million in 2013–2014 to $78.1 million in 
2014–2015. 

The college’s largest source of revenue is provincial and 
federal government grants. These government grant revenues 
represented 73.4 per cent ($57.4 million) of total revenue in fiscal 
2014–2015 comparing to 72.7 per cent ($55.3 million) in 2013–2014. 
The provincial government provided a three per cent increase 
on their base Campus Alberta Grant for 2014–2015. 

Student tuition and related fees revenue increased by $0.3 million 
from $15.0 million in 2013–2014 to $15.3 million in 2014–2015. 
This reflects a six per cent increase in tuition-related full load 
equivalencies in 2014–2015 compared to the prior year as a result 
of increases in academic upgrading and diploma programs. 

Expenses 

Total expenditures increased by $1.5 million (2.0 per cent) 
compared to the prior year: $75.2 million in 2013–2014 to  
$76.7 million in 2014–2015. 

The college’s expense by function increased in instruction  
($1.7 million, 7.3 per cent), student support ($0.8 million,  
10.1 per cent), and academic support ($0.2 million, 1.2 per cent). 
These increases were partially offset by decreases in facility 
operations and maintenance ($0.7 million, 9.2 per cent) and 
computing and data communication (0.5 million, 8.5 per cent).

The college’s largest increase in expense by object was in salaries 
and benefits which increased $4.3 million from $52.8 million to 
$57.1 million. This increase was largely due to an increase in staff 
positions and related benefit costs in 2014–2015. An increase 
of $0.5 million from $10.1 million to $10.6 million resulted in 
material, services, and supplies due mainly to higher contract 
and consulting fees. These expenditure increases were partially 
offset by a decrease in amortization of $3.0 million and lower 
spending in leases, maintenance, and repairs of $0.3 million.

The above increase in salaries and benefits attributed to the 
increases in the expense by function categories above. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Governors of NorQuest College

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

I have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of NorQuest College, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2015, and the consolidated 
statements of operations and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on my 
audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of NorQuest College as at June 30, 2015, and the results of its operations, its 
remeasurement gains and losses, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

	  
Merwan N. Saher, fca 
Auditor General 
October 26, 2015  
Edmonton, Alberta

[Original signed by Merwan N. Saher, FCA]



NORQUEST COLLEGE 40

NorQuest College  
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at June 30, 2015
(thousands of dollars)
										        
								        2015		  2014								
										        
Assets				 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 3)					     $	  43,903   	 $	   28,780   
Portfolio investments (note 4)						         20,000  		   43,000  
Accounts receivable (note 6)						       2,450   		  3,311 
Inventories and prepaid expenses						       758  		   830 
Tangible capital assets (note 7)					     	   44,053 	 	  31,513    
							       $	  111,164  	 $	   107,434 
								      
Liabilities						      	 	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities					     $	   11,664 	 $	  9,540 
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 8)						       1,490 		   1,390  
Lease inducement (note 9)						       -  		   82 
Other liabilities (note 10)						      272		  -	
Deferred revenue (note 11)					     	   62,261  	 	  62,332 
							       $	   75,687  	 $	  73,344  							
Net Assets								      
Endowments (note 12)						       4,305 		    4,348 
Accumulated operating surplus (note 13)	 				    	  31,172 	 	 29,742 
							       $	  35,477  	 $	 34,090  
							       	  	 	 	
							       $	  111,164  	 $	  107,434  	

Contingent liabilities and contractual obligations (notes 14 and 15)
					   

Approved by the Board of Governors:	 			   	 			 
			   Alan Skoreyko		  Dr. Jodi L. Abbott, icd.d
			   Chair, Board of Governors		  President and CEO

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

[Original signed by 
Alan Skoreyko]

[Original signed by  
Dr. Jodi L. Abbott, ICD.D]



annual report 2014–2015 41

Year ended June 30, 2015
(thousands of dollars)
						      Budget 2015		  Actual 2015		  Actual 2014												
						      (note 21)				  
Revenue
	 Government of Alberta grants (note 18) 			   $	  49,266 	 $	  50,719 	 $	 49,288 
	 Federal and other government grants				     5,256 		   6,637		   6,015 
	 Sales of services and products				     4,125		   3,627		   3,692  
 	 Student tuition and fees				    15,351		   15,331		   14,967 
 	 Donations and other grants				     959		   741		  1,580
 	 Investment income (note 16)			   	  425	 	  1,070	 	  498 
					     	  75,382	 	  78,125 	 	  76,040  
Expenses (note 17)
	 Instruction				      24,911		   24,922		  23,235
	 Academic support				     14,569		   14,591		   14,418 
	 Student support				     7,712		   8,322		  7,557 
	 Computing and data communication				     5,098		   5,493		  6,006
	 Facility operations and maintenance				     7,648		   6,525		  7,187 
	 Institutional support				     13,953		   14,569		   14,735  
	 Ancillary services				     2,399		   1,734		   1,772 
	 Sponsored research				     500		   346		   308  

	 Special purpose			   	   -	 	  193	 	  -    
					     	  76,790	 	  76,695	 	  75,218 
	 Change in accumulated operating surplus (deficit)		  		   (1,408)	 	  1,430	 	  822  
	 Accumulated operating surplus at beginning of year			   	  29,742	 	  29,742	 	  28,920 
	 Accumulated operating surplus at end of year (note 13)			   $	 28,334	 $	  31,172	 $	  29,742 

NorQuest College  
Consolidated Statement of Operations

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended June 30, 2015
(thousands of dollars)

NorQuest College 
Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2015 2014

Operating Transactions
Operating surplus $                1,430 $                   822 
Add (deduct) non-cash items:

Amortization of tangible capital assets  2,982  4,814 
Write-off of tangible capital assets  92  1,262 
Expended capital recognized as revenue  (1,483)  (3,332)
Change in employee future benefit liabilities  100  495 
Change in lease inducement  (82)  (133)
Change in other liabilities  272  - 

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable  861  (775)
Decrease in inventories and prepaid expenses  72  236 
(Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (544)  (119)
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue  1,296  (920)
Cash provided by operating transactions  4,996  2,350 

Capital Transactions
Acquisition of tangible capital assets  (15,614)  (5,385)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to major capital transactions  2,668  776 
Cash applied to capital transactions  (12,946)  (4,609)

Investing Transactions
Purchases of investments  -  (43,000)
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments  23,000  5,000 
Cash provided by (applied to) investing transactions  23,000  (38,000)

Financing Transactions
Endowment donations (note 12)  73  107 
Capital contributions  -  34,013 
Cash provided by financing transactions  73  34,120 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  15,123  (6,139)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  28,780  34,919 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $          43,903 $          28,780 
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NorQuest College 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 

1. Authority and Purpose
The Board of Governors of NorQuest College is a corporation which manages and operates NorQuest College (“the college”) 
under the Post-secondary Learning Act (Alberta). All members of the Board of Governors are appointed by either the 
Lieutenant Governor in Council or the Minister of Innovation and Advanced Education, with the exception of the President, 
who is an ex officio member. Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, Campus Alberta Sector Regulation, the college is a 
comprehensive community institution offering diploma and certificate programs as well as a wide range of foundational and 
preparatory programs. The college is a registered charity, and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada), is exempt from 
the payment of income tax. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices

(a) General – Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) and Use of Estimates

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian PSAS.

The measurement of certain assets and liabilities is contingent upon future events; therefore, the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates, which may vary from actual results. The college's management 
uses judgment to determine such estimates. Employee future benefit liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets and the 
revenue recognition for expended capital are the most significant items based on estimates. In management’s opinion, the resulting 
estimates are within reasonable limits of materiality and are in accordance with the significant accounting policies summarized 
below. These significant accounting policies are presented to assist the reader in evaluating these consolidated financial statements 
and, together with the following notes, should be considered an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Net Debt Model Presentation

Canadian public sector accounting standards require a net debt presentation for the statement of financial position in the 
summary financial statements of governments. Net debt presentation reports the difference between financial assets and 
financial liabilities as net debt or net financial assets as an indicator of future revenues required to pay for past transactions and 
events. The college operates within the government reporting entity and does not finance all its expenditures by independently 
raising revenues. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements do not report a net debt indicator.

(c) Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The college's financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows:

Financial Statement Component	 Measurement	
Cash and cash equivalents	 Amortized cost	
Portfolio investments	 Fair value	
Accounts receivable	 Amortized cost	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 Amortized cost

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of unrestricted financial instruments are recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the Consolidated 
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
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Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of restricted financial instruments are recognized as a liability under 
deferred revenue.

The portfolio investments currently owned by the college are in fixed return term deposits and do not involve foreign 
currency transactions. As a result, no remeasurement gains or losses were experienced by the college and a Consolidated 
Statement of Remeasurment Gains and Losses has not been prepared. 

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in 
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. A write-down of a portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed 
for a subsequent increase in value. 

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to determine interest 
revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments measured using cost or amortized 
cost. Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value.

The college does not use foreign currency forward contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for trading 
or speculative purposes.

Management evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either designate the 
entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative component when characteristics 
of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or 
sell non-financial items for the college's normal purchase, sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or 
financial liabilities. The college does not have any embedded derivatives.

(d) Revenue Recognition

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services have not been 
provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue.

i) Government grants, non-government grants, and donations

Government transfers are referred to as government grants.

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms along with the 
college's actions and communications as to the use, create a liability. These grants and donations are recognized as revenue 
when the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be 
recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recognized as revenue when the college is eligible to receive 
the funds. Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recognized as revenue in the year received or in the year 
the funds are committed to the college if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

In-kind donations of services, materials, and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such value can reasonably 
be determined. In circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, they are then recorded at nominal value. 
Transfer of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded at the carrying value. Volunteers as well as college staff 
contribute a significant amount of time each year to assist the college in carrying out its mission. The value of their services 
are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably determined.

ii) Grants and donations related to land

Grants and donations for the purchase of land are recognized as deferred revenue when received, and recognized as revenue 

NorQuest College  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 
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NorQuest College  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 

when the land is purchased. The college recognizes in-kind contributions of land as revenue at the fair value of the land 
when a fair value can be reasonably determined. When the college cannot determine the fair value, it records such in-kind 
contributions at nominal value.

iii) Endowments

Donations that must be maintained in perpetuity are recognized as a direct increase in endowment net assets when received 
or receivable. Investment income and unrealized gains and losses attributable to restricted portfolio investments are 
recognized as deferred revenue.

iv) Investment income

Investment income includes interest income. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments from unrestricted grants 
and donations are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until settlement. Once 
realized, these gains or losses are recognized as investment income in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms for use create a 
liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation are met.

(e) Inventories

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and expected net realizable value and are determined using the 
weighted average method. 

(f) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the acquisition, design, 
construction, development, improvement or betterment of the asset. Cost includes overhead directly attributable to 
construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the 
asset. Work in progress, which includes facilities and improvement projects and development of information systems, is not 
amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in service.

The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and site improvements	 10 – 40 years	
Leasehold improvements	 Term of lease	
Furniture, equipment, and vehicle	 10 years	
Computer hardware and software	 3 years	
Learning resources	 5 – 10 years	

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate they no longer contribute to the college’s ability to provide 
services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book 
value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Intangible assets, works of arts, historical treasures, and collections are expensed when acquired and not recognized as 
tangible capital assets.
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(g) Employee Future Benefits

i) Pension

The college participates with other employers in the Public Service Pension Plan (PSPP), the Management Employee Pension 
Plan (MEPP), and the Supplementary Retirement Plan (SRP). These pension plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension 
plans that provide pensions for the college's participating employees based on years of service and earnings.

The college does not have sufficient plan information on the PSPP, MEPP, and SRP to follow the standards for defined benefit 
accounting, and therefore follows the standards for defined contribution accounting. Accordingly, pension expense recorded 
for the PSPP, MEPP, and SRP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required for its employees during 
the year; which are calculated based on actuarially pre-determined amounts that are expected to provide the plan’s future 
benefits.

ii) Long term disability

The cost of providing non-vesting and non-accumulating employee future benefits for compensated absences under the 
college’s long-term disability plans is charged to expense in full when the event occurs which obligates the college to provide 
the benefits. The liability for these benefits is actuarially determined at the present value of the forecasted combined benefits 
for each claimant. Actuarial valuations are obtained annually, and any gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are 
amortized over the average expected period the benefits will be paid. 

iii) Short term illness

The cost of providing non-vesting and non-accumulating employee future benefits for compensated absences under the 
college’s short-term illness plan is charged to expense in full when the event occurs which obligates the college to provide the 
benefits. The liability for these benefits is estimated using the specific rates of pay, the expected duration of their absence 
to a maximum of 80 days, and an estimate of their expected benefits for each employee. Any gains or losses on the accrued 
benefit obligation are recognized in the period in which they occur.

(h) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements use the line by line consolidation method to record the accounts of the NorQuest 
College Foundation ("the foundation"), which operates under the Companies Act (Alberta) to raise funds for projects, 
programs, and services that serve to improve opportunities for NorQuest College learners' success. The foundation is a 
registered charity and has been granted tax exempt status under the Income Tax Act (Canada).

(i) Funds and Reserves

Certain amounts, as approved by the Board of Governors, are set aside in accumulated operating surplus for future operating 
and capital purposes. Transfers to and from funds and reserves are an adjustment to the respective fund when approved.

(j) Expense by Function

The college uses the following categories of functions on its Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Instruction

Expenses related to support all activities that are part of the college's credit and non-credit programs and those non-
sponsored research and scholarly activities.

NorQuest College  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 
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Academic support

Expenses related to the services, administrative, and management activities that directly support academic functions, course 
and curriculum development activities, and academic personnel development.

Student support

Expenses related to admissions and registry functions and activities that support the student body or provide services to 
individual students or student groups. These include student services administration, social and cultural activities, counselling 
services and career guidance, financial aid administration, and scholarship awards.

Computing and data communication

Expenses related to resources, activities, and services that provide and support computing, networking, data communications, 
and other information technology functions.

Facility operations and maintenance

Expenses related to the maintenance and renewal of facilities that house the teaching, research, and administrative activities 
within the college. These include utilities, facilities administration, building maintenance, custodial services, landscaping, and 
grounds keeping, as well as major repairs and renovations.

Institutional support

Expenses related to executive management, public relations, alumni relations, corporate marketing and communication, 
fundraising and development, corporate insurance premiums, corporate finance, human resources, and any other centralized 
college-wide administrative services.

Ancillary services

Expenses related to operations ancillary to the normal institutional functions of instruction and research such as bookstores, 
printing and parking services, and amortization expenses related directly or attributable to such operations.

Sponsored research

Expenses related to all sponsored research activities specifically funded by restricted grants and donations from external 
organizations and undertaken within the college.

Special purpose

Expenses that do not support the major activities of the college such as instruction, ancillary services, and sponsored 
research.  These include expenses for community service specifically funded by restricted grants and donations.

(k) Future Accounting Changes

In March 2015 the Public Sector Accounting Board issued these two accounting standards effective for fiscal years starting on 
or after April 1, 2017.

•	 �PS 2200 Related party disclosures, defines a related party and identifies disclosures for related parties and related party 
transactions, including key management personnel, and close family members.

•	 �PS 3420 Inter-entity transactions, establishes standards on how to account for and report transactions between public 
sector entities that comprise a government’s reporting entity from both a provider and recipient perspective. 

Management is currently assessing the impact of these standards on the financial statements. The college discloses 
transactions and balances related to the Government of Alberta in note 18.

NorQuest College  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 
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NorQuest College  
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(thousands of dollars) 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include short term investments with a maturity less than three months from the date of acquisition. 

								        2015	 	 2014
Cash														              $	  21 ,7 18 	 $	 28,780    
Cash equivalents 										          	  22,185 	 	  -    
															               $	  43,903 	 $	 28,780    

4. Portfolio Investments
The composition, fair value and annual market yields on investments are as follows:
								        2015	 	 2014
Investments at Fair Value:														              
	 Other – Term deposits										          $	  20,000 	 $	  43,000 
Total investments										          $	  20,000 	 $	  43,000 

The fair value measurements are those derived from:

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The college's portfolio investments in 2015 and 2014 
are all Level 1 investment. As at June 30, 2015, the annual market yields and the terms to maturity are as follows:

	 Term deposits: 1.65% (2014 - 1.49%); term to maturity 6 months (Dec. 23, 2015).

Level 2 – Market-based inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or 
indirectly. As at June 30, 2015, the college does not have Level 2 investment.

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data; assumptions are based on the best 
internal and external information available and are most suitable and appropriate based on the type of financial instrument 
being valued in order to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length 
transaction. As at June 30, 2015, the college does not have Level 3 investment.

5. Financial Risk Management
The college is exposed to the following types of risk:

Market price risk

The college is exposed to low market price risk – the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, its issuer or general 
market factors affecting all securities. In 2014 and 2015, the college invested in term deposits with fixed interest income. 

Foreign currency risk

The college is exposed to low foreign exchange risk as it does not have investments that are denominated in foreign 
currencies. The college does not use foreign currency forward contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments 
for trading or speculative purposes. The college's exposure to foreign exchange risk is very low due to minimal business 
activities conducted in a foreign currency.
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NorQuest College  
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June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 

Credit risk

The college is exposed to low credit risk on investments arising from the potential failure of a counterparty, debtor or issuer 
to honor its contractual obligations. To manage this risk the college has established an investment policy with required 
minimum credit quality standards and issuer limits. The credit risk from accounts receivable is low as the majority of balances 
are due from government agencies.

The credit risk on investments held are as follows:

Credit Rating						      2015	 	 2014
AA															              	 100.0%	 	 100.0%  

Liquidity risk

The college maintains and monitors adequate working capital to ensure that funds are available to meet current and 
forecasted financial requirements in the most cost effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk to the college’s earnings that arise from the fluctuations in interest rates and the degree of 
volatility of these rates. This risk is managed by investment policies that limit the term to maturity of certain fixed income 
securities that the college holds. In 2014 and 2015, the college was exposed to low interest rate risk on its cash balances as 
fluctuations in the prime rate affected the interest earned on cash balances held at the college's banks.

The maturity and average effective market yield of interest bearing investments are as follows:
								        	 	 Average
										          effective
						      < 1 year		  1 – 5 years		  market yield
Cash and cash equivalent				    100%		  -		  1.27%
Portfolio investments, term deposits				    -		  100%		  1.65

6. Accounts Receivable
								        2015	 	 2014

Accounts receivable										          $	 2,169 	 $	 3,419  
Accrued interest										          	  10 	 $	  11 
Other receivable											           316		  15
Less allowance for doubtful accounts								        	   (45)	 	  (134)
															               $	  2,450	 $	  3,311

Accounts Receivable are unsecured and non-interest bearing.
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                                                                                                 2015
Land Buildings & Site 

Improvements
Leasehold 

Improvements
Furniture, 

Equipment & 
Vehicle

Computer 
Hardware & 

Software

Learning 
Resources

Total

Cost (a)

Beginning of year $          5,171 $       30,397 $         3,916 $         5,723 $       15,826 $          1,373 $      62,406 
Acquisitions (b)  1,629  10,856  28  1,167  1,826  108  15,614 
Disposals (b), including  
write-downs

  
(6)

  
-   

  
-   

  
(252)

  
(1,784)

  
(222)

  
(2,264)

 6,794  41,253  3,944  6,638  15,868  1,259  75,756 

Accumulated Amortization
Beginning of year -  9,886  3,605  3,155  13,583  664  30,893 
Amortization expense -  816  312  544  1,162  148  2,982 
Effects on disposals, including 
write-downs

 
-

  
-   

 
 -   

  
(222)

  
(1,784)

  
(166)

  
(2,172)

-  10,702  3,917   3,477  12,961  646  31,703 
Net book value at June 30, 2015 $        6,794 $       30,551 $              27 $          3,161 $        2,907 $            613 $      44,053 

2014
Land Buildings & Site 

Improvements
Leasehold 

Improvements
Furniture, 

Equipment & 
Vehicle

Computer 
Hardware & 

Software

Learning 
Resources

Total

Cost (a)

Beginning of year $          5,171  $        27,017  $         3,916  $         7,691  $        15,451  $         1,346  $      60,592 
Acquisitions  -    3,414  -    462  1,392  117  5,385 
Disposals, including  
write-downs

 
 -   

 (34)  -    (2,430)  (1,017)  (90)  (3,571)

 5,171  30,397  3,916  5,723  15,826  1,373  62,406 

Accumulated Amortization
Beginning of year -  9,026  2,923  3,777  12,067  595  28,388 
Amortization Expense -  860  682  588  2,532  152  4,814 
Effects on disposals, including 
write-downs

 
-

 
 -   

 
 -   

  
(1,210)

  
(1,016)

  
(83)

  
(2,309)

-  9,886  3,605  3,155  13,583  664  30,893 
Net book value at June 30, 2014 $          5,171  $         20,511  $              311  $         2,568  $         2,243  $           709  $        31,513

(a) Historic cost includes work-in-progress as at June 30, 2015 totalling $18,293 (2014 – $7,610) comprised of building $17,975 (2014 – $7,295), site 
improvements $2 (2014 - $88) and development of information system $316 (2014 – $227), which is not amortized as the assets are not in service.

(b) Part of land acquisitions and disposals in 2015 results from a land exchange agreement with the City of Edmonton. This agreement is further 
referenced within Note 10.

7. Tangible Capital Assets
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8. Employee Future Benefit Liabilities

Employee future benefit liabilities are comprised of the following:
2015 2014

Benefit liability for employees on long term disability $              1,138 $              1,271 

Long term disability liability for term employees  144  83 

Liability for short term illness  208  36 

$             1,490 $              1,390 

A. Defined Benefit Accounted for on a Defined Benefit Basis

(i) Long Term Disability (LTD)

The college provides long term disability defined benefits to its permanent and term employees. The LTD plan provides 
pension and non-pension benefits after employment, but before the employee's normal retirement date. For permanent 
employees, salary costs are covered by an insurance plan and the benefits are provided by the college for employees while on 
long term disability. For term employees, both salary and benefits costs are provided by the college for a maximum period of 
24 months. LTD liabilities for both permanent and term employees were actuarial valuated as at June 30, 2015. The college had 
12 employees (2014: 11 employees) on long term disability as at June 30, 2015.

The expense and financial position of the LTD plan are as follows:

2015 2014
Benefit 

liability for 
employees on 

LTD

LTD liability 
for term 

employees

Benefit   
liability for 

employees on 
LTD

LTD liability 
for term 

employees

Expense
Interest cost $               21 $                -   $              25 $                -   
Amortization of actuarial (gains) losses  213  96 446 65 
Total expense $            234 $             96 $             471 $              65 

Financial Position
Acccrued benefit obligation:
Balance, beginning of year $          1,109 $              82 $            828 $              52 
    Interest cost  21  -    25  -   
    Benefits paid  (205)  (34)  (190)  (34)
    Actuarial (gains) losses  213  96  446  65 
    Balance, end of year  1,138  144  1,109  83 
Change in estimation 
methodology

  
-   

 
 -   

  
162 

 
 -   

Accrued benefit liability $          1,138 $             144 $           1,271 $              83 

The college plans to use its working capital to finance these future obligations.
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The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are as follows:

2015 2014
Benefit 

liability for 
employees on 

LTD

LTD liability 
for term 

employees

Benefit   
liability for 

employees on 
LTD

LTD liability 
for term 

employees

Accrued benefit obligation:
    Discount rate 1.5% 1.7% 1.9% 0.0%
    Long-term average compensation increase 3.5% N/A 3.5% N/A
Benefit cost (a)

  Discount rate 1.9% 0.0% 3.0% 0.0%
  Long-term average compensation increase 3.5% N/A 0.0% N/A
Alberta inflation (a) 2.0% N/A 0.0% N/A
Estimated average remaining service life in years  6  2  6  2 

(a) Benefit cost items and Alberta inflation are used in year over year comparative analysis.  The college's 2013 estimation methodology did not consider 

compensation increases or inflation, therefore the 2014 figures are 0.0%.

As there are no assets set aside to fund these liabilities, the 2015 discount rate used for the accrued benefit obligation and 
benefit cost were provided by the actuarial engaged by the college (2014 rates obtained from the Alberta Capital Finance 
Authority).

(ii) Liability for Short Term Illness

The college provides short term illness defined benefits to its permanent and term employees.  Liability for short term illness 
is recognized when an event occurs that obligates the college to provide such benefits for a maximum of 80 days.

B. Defined Benefit Accounted for on a Defined Contribution Basis

Multi-Employer Pension Plans

(i) Public Service Pension Plan (PSPP)

The Public Service Pension Plan (PSPP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan for all permanent and 
term employees excluding management positions and is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. The pension expense 
recorded in these consolidated financial statements is $4,489 (2014 – $4,041).

An interim actuarial valuation of the PSPP was carried out as, and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2014,  
the PSPP reported an actuarial deficit of $803,299 (2013 – $1,254,678 deficit).  For the year ended December 31, 2014, PSPP 
reported employer contributions of $326,134 (2013 - $315,830) and employee contributions of $328,193 (2013 – $317,954). For 
the 2014 calendar year, the college’s employer contributions were $4,209 (2013 calendar year – $4,007). The PSPP’s  deficit is 
being discharged through additional contributions from both employees and employers. Other than the requirement to make 
additional contributions, the college does not bear any risk related to the PSPP deficit.

(ii) Management Employee Pension Plan (MEPP)

The Management Employee Pension Plan (MEPP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan for 
management positions and is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. The pension expense recorded in these 
consolidated financial statements is $1,518 (2014 -$1,353).
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An actuarial valuation of the MEPP was carried out as at December 31, 2012 and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2014. At 
December 31, 2014, the MEPP reported an actuarial surplus of $75,805 (2013 –$50,457).  For the year ended December 31, 2014, 
MEPP reported employer contributions of $127,497 (2013 – $109,101) and employee contributions of $75,912 (2013 – $65,392). For 
the 2014 calendar year, the college’s employer contributions were $1,460 (2013 calendar year – $1,205).

(iii) Supplementary Retirement Plan (SRP)

Supplementary Retirement Plan (SRP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan providing additional 
pension benefits to managers of designated employers who participate in the Management Employee Pension Plan (MEPP) and 
whose annual salary exceeds the maximum pensionable salary limit under the Income Tax Act. It is accounted for on a defined 
contribution basis. The pension expense recorded in these consolidated financial statements is $160 (2014 – $132).

An actuarial valuation of the SRP was carried out as at December 31, 2012 and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2014.  
At December 31, 2014, the SRP reported an actuarial deficit of $17,203 (2013 – $12,384 deficit). For the year ended December 31, 
2014, SRP reported employer contributions of $3,965 (2013 – $3,339) and employee contributions of $3,967 (2013 – $3,330).  
For the 2014 calendar year, the college’s employer contributions were $144 (2013 calendar year – $147). The college participated 
in the SRP effective from January 1, 2013. The SRP’s deficit is being discharged through additional contributions from the 
employers effective April 1, 2015. Other than the requirement to make additional contributions, the college does not bear any 
risk related to the SRP deficit. 

9. Lease Inducement
The college received a lease inducement under agreements for leased premises. The inducement was deferred and applied as 
a reduction of lease expense over the term of the lease (March 01, 2007 to June 30, 2015) on a straight-line basis. As of June 30, 
2015, the lease inducement has been fully amortized with nil balance (2014 – $82).

10. Other Liabilities
The college executed a land exchange agreement and a public space agreement with the City of Edmonton in 2015, of which 
the college grants the City rights and privileges for 20 years to utilize the public space when it is developed by the college.  
The balance $272 (2014 – nil) is attributed to a liability should the public space agreement be cancelled between the college 
and the City of Edmonton. 
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11. Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenues are set aside for specific purposes as required either by legislation, regulation, or agreement:

2015

Restricted
Deferred 

Contribution
Unspent capital 

contributions
Spent capital 
contributions

Tuition and  
Other fees Total

Balance, beginning of year $            5,625 $           34,618 $          20,706 $             1,383 $            62,332 

Grants, tuition, donations received  10,286  -  -  15,528  25,814 

Restricted Investment income – realized   
(note 16)

  
494 

 
 59 

 
 - 

 
 - 

 
 553 

Unearned capital acquisition transfers  (634)  (10,959)  11,593  -  -   

Recognized as revenue  (9,552)  (188)  (1,483)  (15,331)  (26,554)

Transfer from endowment (note 12)  116  -  -  -  116 

Other  160  (160)  -  -  - 

Balance, end of year $            6,495 $           23,370 $           30,816 $             1,580 $           62,261 

2014

Restricted
Deferred 

Contribution
Unspent capital 

contributions
Spent capital 
contributions

Tuition and  
Other fees Total

Balance, beginning of year $            6,386 $             4,471 $           20,265 $             1,449 $            32,571 

Grants, tuition, donations received  8,542  34,013  -    14,901  57,456 

Restricted Investment income – realized   
(note 16)

 
 42 

  
61 

 
 -   

 
 -   

 103 

Unearned capital acquisition transfers  (283)  (3,490)  3,773  -    -   

Recognized as revenue  (9,165)  (339)  (3,332)  (14,967)  (27,803)

Transfer from endowment (note 12)  5  -    -    -    5 

Other  98  (98)  -    -    -   

Balance, end of year $             5,625 $           34,618  $20,706 $               1,383 $           62,332 
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12. Endowments
Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the college and internal allocations by the college’s Board 
of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity.

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes established by the donors 
or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as college policy stipulate that the economic value of the endowments must 
be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be expended and reinvesting unexpended income.

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the college has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of endowments to 
enable:

•	 �income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed 
and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment.

•	 �encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and generally to 
regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the Board of Governors, the 
encroachment benefits the college and does not impair the long-term value of the fund.

In any year, if the investment income earned on endowments is insufficient to fund the spending allocation, the college has 
the option to defer the spending allocation, fund the spending allocation from the college's operating funds or fund the 
spending allocation through encroachment of endowment principal.  If endowment principal is used, the amount is expected 
to be recovered by future investment income.

The composition of endowments is as follows:

2015 2014

Balance, beginning of year $            4,348 $             4,241 

Endowment contributions  73  112 

Transfer (to) deferred revenue (note 11)	  (116)  (5)

Balance, end of year $            4,305 $            4,348 



NORQUEST COLLEGE 56

13. Accumulated Operating Surplus
The composition of accumulated operating surplus is as follows:

Accumulated 
surplus from 

operations

Investment in 
tangible capital 

assets

Internally 
restricted 

surplus

Total 
accumulated 

operating 
surplus

Balance as at June 30, 2013 $             11,067 $            11,939 $             5,914 $          28,920 

Operating surplus  822  -    -    822 

Amortization of internally funded tangible capital assets  2,711  (2,711)  -    -   

Net book value of tangible capital assets disposals  33  (33)  -    -   

Internally funded acquisition of tangible capital assets  (1,612)  1,612  -    -   

Expenditures funded from internally restricted surplus  1,550  -    (1,550)  -   

Net Board appropriation to internally restricted surplus  (2,350)  -    2,350  -   

Balance as at June 30, 2014  12,221  10,807  6,714  29,742

Operating surplus  1,430  -    -    1,430 

Amortization of internally funded tangible capital assets  1,508  (1,508)  -    -   

Net book value of tangible capital assets disposals  82  (82)  -    -   

Internally funded acquisition of tangible capital assets  (2,713)  2,713  -    -   

Expenditures funded from internally restricted surplus  2,331  -    (2,331)  -   

Net Board appropriation to internally restricted surplus  (2,700)  -    2,700  -   

Balance as at June 30, 2015 $            12,159 $            11,930 $             7,083 $            31,172 

Investment in tangible capital assets represents the amount of the college's accumulated operating surplus that has been 
invested in the college's tangible capital assets.

Internally restricted surplus represents the amount set aside by the college’s Board of Governors for specific purposes. Those 
amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of the Board and do not have interest allocated to them. 
Internally restricted surplus with significant balances include:

Balance at 
beginning of year

Appropriations 
from 

accumulated 
operating surplus

Disbursements 
during the year

Balance at end of 
the year 2015 

Downtown Campus Development $              1,149 $                    - $                    - $                1,149 

Physical Assets  54  171  (149)  76 

Information and Technology  1,405  1,190  (1,155)  1,440 

Organizational Development  673  202  (199)  676 

Educational Resources  1,106  350  (152)  1,304 

Health Careers Expansion  20  381  (306)  95 

Business Development  2,225  376  (370)  2,231 

Scholarships  12  -  -  12 

Regional Stewardship  70  30  -  100 

Total $             6,714 $            2,700 $            (2,331) $             7,083 

NorQuest College  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 
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14. Contingent Liabilities
The college has identified potential asset retirement obligations related to the existence of asbestos in a number of its 
facilities. Although not a current health hazard, upon renovation or demolition of these facilities, the college may be required 
to take appropriate remediation procedures to remove the asbestos. As the college has no legal obligation to remove the 
asbestos in these facilities as long as the asbestos is contained and does not pose a public health risk, the fair value of the 
obligation cannot be reasonably estimated due to the indeterminate timing and scope of the removal. As such, there is no 
liability until the asbestos is disturbed. The asset retirement obligations for these assets will be recorded in the period in 
which there is certainty that the capital project will proceed and there is sufficient information to estimate fair value of the 
obligation. 

15. Contractual Obligations
The college does not use foreign currency forward contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for trading 
or speculative purposes. 

The estimated aggregate amount payable for the unexpired terms of these contractual obligations are as follows:

Service 
Contracts

Systems and 
Technology

Long-term 
Leases

Capital 
Projects Total

2016 $             3,275 $               409 $               1,182 $           52,975 $           57,842 

2017  857  401  1,012  42,990  45,259 

2018  100  100  545  885  1,630 

2019  -    100  251  166  516 

2020 and thereafter  -    100  42  -    142 

$             4,232 $              1,110 $             3,030 $           97,016 $         105,389 

16. Investment Income

2015 2014

Restricted funds

Investment earnings on cash, cash equivalents, and portfolio investments held for 
endowments and other restricted purposes $                553 $                  103 

Transfer to deferred revenue (note 11)  (553)  (103)

Add deferred revenue recognized as investment income  579  74 

Restricted funds recognized as investment income  579  74 

Unrestricted funds

Investment earnings on unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, and portfolio investments  491 424

Unrestricted funds recognized as investment income  491  424 

Total investment income $              1,070 $                498
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17. Expense by Object
The following is a summary of expense by object:

2015 2014

 Budget  Actual  Actual 

Salaries and benefits $              56,318 $           57,109 $           52,782 

Materials, supplies, and services  10,814  10,570  10,057 

Utilities  1,171  1,157  1,263 

Leases, maintenance, and repairs  2,962  3,204  3,485 

Cost of goods sold  1,473  1,185  1,289 

Scholarships and bursaries  400  396  266 

Amortization of tangible capital assets (including write-off)  3,652  3,074  6,076 

$             76,790 $          76,695 $            75,218 
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18. Government of Alberta Transactions and Balances
The college operates under the authority and statutes of the Province of Alberta. Transactions and balances between the 
college and the Government of Alberta (GOA) are measured at the exchange amount and summarized below:

2015 2014

Grants from Government of Alberta
Operating $           43,534 $           42,618 
Capital  377  34,377 
Access to the Future Fund  1,235  - 
Other  2,920  1,753 

Total Innovation and Advanced Education  48,066  78,748 
Other post-secondary institutions  10  -  

Other GOA departments and agencies:
Alberta Health  10  529 
Alberta Human Services  164  346 
Alberta Job Skills Training and Labour  336  - 
Other  88  6 

Total other GOA departments and agencies  598  881 
 

Total contribution received  48,674  79,629 
Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue  1,263  1,609 
Change in deferred revenue  782  (31,950)

$           50,719 $          49,288 

Accounts receivable $                  49 $               204 
Other GOA departments and agencies  15  16 
Other post-secondary institutions $                   64 $               220 

Accounts payable
Other GOA departments and agencies $               440 $                415 

$               440 $                415 

19. Funds Held on Behalf of Others
The college holds the following funds on behalf of others over which the Board has no power of appropriation. Accordingly, 
these funds are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

2015 2014

Deferred Salary Leave Plan $                108 $                 92 
Faculty Association  4  12 
NorQuest Committee for the Arts  9  10 
Post-Secondary Providers of Services to Students with Disabilities  9  7 

$                130 $                 121 

NorQuest College  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 
(thousands of dollars) 
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20. Salary and Employee Benefits
Under the authority of the Fiscal Management Act, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance requires the 
disclosure of certain salary and employee benefits information.

2015 2014
Base salary(2) Other cash  

benefits(3)(4)

Other non-
cash benefits 

(5)(6)

 
 

Total

 
 

Total

Governance (1)  
Chair of the Board of Governors $                    - $                    7 $                     - $                    7 $                   5 
Members of the Board of Governors  -  28  -  28  33 

Executive
President & Chief Executive Officer  326  65  90  481  452 

Vice Presidents (VP):
VP Teaching & Learning  
& Chief Academic Officer

  
190 

  
26 

  
48 

  
264 

  
264 

VP College Services  
& Chief Financial Officer (7)

  
190 

  
28 

  
50 

  
268 

  
261 

VP Transformation  
& Chief Advancement Officer

  
190 

  
154 

  
86 

  
430 

  
261 

Executive Director, Workforce 
Development & Human Resource(7)

  
107 

  
1 

  
32 

  
140 

  
- 

 
(1) The chair and members of the Board of Governors receive no salary for participation on the Board.
(2) Base salary includes pensionable base pay.
(3) Other cash benefit for Governance represents administrative honorarium for the chair and members of the Board of Governors.
(4) Other cash benefit for executive include earnings such as estimated variable compensation for the president and vice presidents, vacation payouts, pay-in-
lieu of notice, and separation allowance.
(5) Other non-cash benefits for executive include the employer’s share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees 
including pension, supplementary retirement plan, basic life insurance, employee and family assistance program, extended health care, dental plan, accidental 
death and dismemberment, long-term disability plan, professional memberships, professional development and tuition fees.
(6)  The Supplementary Retirement Plan (SRP) was implemented effective January 1, 2013.  Under the terms of the SRP, executive officers may receive 
supplemental payments. SRP is described in note 8.

(7) The value reported for the Executive Director, Workforce Development & Human Resources in 2015 included amounts paid to two incumbents. This is a 

new executive position in the 2015 fiscal year which was vacant from July 1 to 23, 2014 and from August 15 to November 30, 2014.

21. Budget Figures 
Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the college’s Comprehensive 
Institutional Plan as approved by the Board of Governors.

22. Approval of Consolidated Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the NorQuest College Board of Governors.

23. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
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